RECEIVED

Oct 24 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Bamberg County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

KWAMAINE ROSS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000412

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err in finding trial counsel was effective when he failed to object to the coercive *Allen*¹ charge that improperly failed to inform the jury not to set aside their firmly held beliefs?

¹ Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

STATEMENT

On October 24, 2015, an assailant broke into the home of Travis “Bird” Anderson and shot and killed him. Decedent’s wife, Octavia Bannister, testified that she felt something was wrong when she returned home since the sliding door was open and all the lights were on inside the home. App. 236, l. 16 – 237, l. 25. Upon entering the kitchen, she saw signs of a struggle and heard a gunshot from upstairs. App. 238, ll. 5 – 21. Bannister ran into the living area and out the door, she claimed to see petitioner inside the home. App. 293, ll. 2 – 19. She then claimed to get a second look at petitioner as he stood in the sliding doorway holding a gun. App. 239, l. 21 – 240, l. 3. After being presented three different lineups, Bannister picked petitioner out as the man she saw in the doorway holding a gun. App. 243, ll. 10 – 23.

Bannister’s identification was challenged on cross-examination. Bannister acknowledged only seeing a single individual inside her home wearing a green shirt.² App. 245, ll. 18 – 25. She denied saying this individual had a gold tooth. App. 246, ll. 6 – 11. She admitted altering her story about seeing the perpetrator twice as opposed to the one time as she fled the doorway. App. 246, l. 25 - 247, l. 12. She acknowledged that photograph #2 on the second lineup also “looked like” the perpetrator but that she wasn’t sure and did not select that suspect. App. 248, ll. 1 – 16.

Witness Andrea Rahn was working at the Dollar Tree in Bamberg on October 24, 2015. The Dollar Tree was close to decedent’s house. App. 87, l. 17 – 88, l. 11. Bannister ran to the Dollar Tree for help. App. 88, ll. 10-23. Rahn observed a tall, slender man with dreadlocks wearing a white t-shirt leaving the decedent’s house via the sliding door. App. 89, ll. 8-20.

² The state’s theory was there were multiple perpetrators based upon the contradictory descriptions of the person at this sliding glass door and various colors associated with the shirt worn by the suspect. App. 170, ll. 10-21. Bannister bought into this explanation for the discrepancy between her physical description of the suspect and that of Andrea Rahn. App. 247, ll. 14 – 22.

Jeffrey Porter remembered seeing “two guys walking down the road mighty close, so we made a comment about that that it was gay” close to decedent’s home sometime before shots were fired App. 114, l. 17 – 115, l. 23. Porter’s only other description of these two “gay” guys were: one had on a light colored shirt and the other a dark colored. App. 120, l. 10 – 121, l. 8. After hearing gunshots, Porter helped Bannister remove the children from the home before police arrived. App. 118, l. 12 – 119, l. 6.

The state also relied upon inferences that petitioner had the opportunity to commit the crime due to visiting a relative who lived near the murder scene. Alonza “Duck” Ross is petitioner’s uncle. App. 91, l. 11 – 92, l. 15. He knew the decedent as “Bird.” App. 95, ll. 4-15. Duck said he had “no idea” who lived with Bird, but he knew “Bird” lived within walking distance of his house. App. 95, l. 21 – 96, l. 21. Duck remembered that appellant came by his house with two other men on the day of the crime, and one of them was called “Peace.” App. 97, l. 24 – 98, l. 17. Duck testified while the men were visiting, they drank beer. Petitioner and the two other men apparently left for about five minutes at one point and came back with “some Heineken Beer.” App. 99, l. 16 – 100, l. 25. Duck acknowledged that at some point, “Kwamaine and the other two boys left.” App. 101, ll. 4-6. Duck learned from a phone call that there had been a shooting or a homicide in the area. App. 101, l. 11 – 103, l. 8. Upon petitioner returning, Duck mentioned the color of the suspect’s shirt and claimed petitioner then changed shirts. App. 107, l. 19 – 108, l. 6. On cross-examination, Duck admitted telling the defense investigator that petitioner only left one time to go to the store and left later in the evening to head home and did not return: “They went to the store and got beer. And then he left and came back no more then.” App. 111, ll. 14-22.

Special Agent David Owen confirmed that another man, Lenell Ross, was also a suspect in the shooting. App. 153, ll. 5-10. Owen also admitted that at the time of trial, Jamal Green was still a person of interest in the shooting. App. 170, l. 21. Owen explained the police thought more than one person could be involved in the shooting based on the contradictory witness statement from Bannister's "statement of what the individual looked like, his size, the color of shirt he had on and then Ms. Rahn's statement of the size of the person that she saw run out and the color shirt that he had on." App. 170, ll. 10-21. At another point, Owen speculated that there could be "the third person involved. There were three at Uncle Duck's house." App. 161, l. 18 – 162, l. 4. Owen fluctuated as to the number of assailants from two to four men being involved in the murder but notably refused to acknowledge the possibility of only one perpetrator. App. 164, ll. 10-23.

Two of the three photographic lineups were shown to Bannister on October 28, 2015. Bannister did not recognize anyone from the first and hesitated to identify Ronald Ross³ as one of the men involved from the second because she said: "I'm not 100 percent positive, but it looks like him." App. 155, ll. 12-18; 362 - 365. Owen showed Bannister another six-man lineup on October 29, 2015, in the back seat of his police car. Owen said Bannister identified appellant "as being the person who I saw at the back door on Sunday night as I was running." App. 165, ll. 10-22; 366-67. Owen maintained that Bannister was "physically shaking, crying, and became distraught" when she identified appellant's photograph in this lineup. App. 137, 16-25. As to the identifying shirt information, Owen testified that "[o]ne of them had on a light green or yellow shirt and the other had on a white shirt." App. 158, l. 22 – 159, l. 8.

³ Ronald Ross was related to petitioner but was not called as a witness during trial. App. 459, ll. 20 – 25.

Lenell Ross was petitioner's first cousin and testified that he remembered the night of October 24, 2015. App. 173, l. 19 – 175, l. 22. Lenell denied that he ever told Agent Owen that petitioner was wearing a yellow shirt on the night of the murder. App. 177, ll. 7-24. Lenell denied that he had changed his "story" with the authorities. App. 182, l. 19 – 183, l. 1. The solicitor recalled Agent Owen as a witness to impeach Lenell. App. 221, ll. 3-8. Owen claimed that Lenell told him in November of 2015 that petitioner was wearing a yellow shirt on the night of the murder and that he changed that shirt. App. 223, l. 9 – 224, l. 1. Owen said Lenell never told him that petitioner only "attempted to" change his shirt but was unable to do so. App. 224, ll. 3-5.

Owen also testified that Duck said petitioner left the house with two other men and that petitioner later returned to the house by himself and that "the two boys later returned -- the two boys, or the two gentlemen that arrived with Kwamaine previously, later returned, stayed for a few moments or a few minutes and then left with Kwamaine in the black SUV." App. 224, l. 15 – 225, l. 6. Owen also offered that Duck told him when he returned to his house after going to the store for beer, "he noticed a lot of police activity and a helicopter flying above, near his house." App. 224, ll. 14 – 17.

The state also produced two prison informants to testify against petitioner. Keon Kimble claimed petitioner told him the crime was supposed to be a robbery that evening, and the robbery "went bad." Kimble said he understood "Bird was selling drugs or whatever, so I guess [it was] for that." App. 203, l. 7 – 204, l. 6. Kimble denied on cross-examination that he told defense investigator Tony Taylor that he did not want to talk to him because there "wasn't nothing in it for me." App. 205, l. 12 – 206, l. 23. Investigator Taylor later testified that when he interviewed Kimble, "the first thing out of his mouth was what's going to be in it for me." App. 266, ll. 6-20. Charles Lott claimed he talked to petitioner at the Bamberg County Detention Center. Lott asserted

petitioner told him he was “going to hit a lick” and that he was at a house across 301 near the Dollar Tree. Lott said petitioner got frightened when a car pulled up and he ran away. App. 208, l. 22 – 210, l. 21. As with Kimble, Lott was facing substantial prison time for pending charges and had an extensive criminal record. App. 211, l. 21 – 212, l. 23.

Petitioner testified in his own defense that he was at his Uncle Duck’s house on the day of the shooting and that nothing out of the ordinary occurred. App. 259, l. 17 – 262, l. 18. Petitioner related that he was open and honest with the police and he told them he was wearing a blue shirt on the night of the shooting and “my story hasn’t changed” since his initial interview with law enforcement. The solicitor acknowledged this fact: “I grant you, your story has not changed.” App. 262, l. 15 – 263, l. 18.

Petitioner was indicted for the murder by a Bamberg County grand jury. App. 369. Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Doyet A. Early III and a jury from June 19 – 21, 2018. App. 1 & 327. Ola Johnson represented petitioner and David Miller and R. Jackson Cooper appeared on behalf of the state. App. 1. After deliberating for several hours over a two day period, the jury found petitioner guilty. App. 338, l. 25 – 339, l. 3. Judge Early sentenced petitioner to incarceration for thirty years. App. 351, l. 24 – 352, l. 2.

Petitioner was represented by Robert Dudek on direct appeal who raised an issue regarding the hearsay evidence of the color of the shirt petitioner was wearing on the night of the murder. The Court of Appeals denied error in an unpublished opinion. *See State v. Ross*, No. 2018-001212, (S.C. Ct. App. Mar. 31, 2021).

Petitioner sought post-conviction relief. App. 373. Petitioner’s counsel, Tommy Thomas, filed an amended petition alleging trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a coercive *Allen* charge. App. 397-398. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis

on February 1, 2024. App. 399. Mr. Thomas represented petitioner and Travis Cruise Mitchell appeared on behalf of the State. App. 399. Judge Curtis denied relief by written order of dismissal. App. 495.

This petition for certiorari follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard for appellate review in PCR cases “depends on the specific issue” raised to the Court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). The reviewing court will “defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” Id. However, “[q]uestions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and [this Court] will reverse the PCR court's decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

Criminal defendants are entitled to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). “An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense.” Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521(2003). “When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. Concerning prejudice, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was effective when he failed to object to the coercive *Allen* charge that improperly failed to inform the jury not to set aside their firmly held beliefs.

A. How the issue impacted trial.

From this mix of contradictory descriptions and unreliable informants, the jury was asked to convict petitioner for Bird's murder. Jury deliberation began on June 20, 2018, at 3:09 p.m. App. 318, ll. 11 – 16. While a time was not noted in the record, the jury sent out a note inquiring about the problems with petitioner's leg during his testimony. App. 319, ll. 7- 8. The trial court noted that petitioner visibly struggled with the leg immobilizer used for security when taking the stand. App. 319, ll. 9 – 16. The trial judge responded by telling the jury "For security purposes, all people being tried wear leg immobilizers while in the courtroom." App. 319, ll. 17 – 19. Counsel for petitioner objected, observing that the response defeated the entire purpose of wearing the leg immobilizer "since the purpose of hiding the restraints was so that they [the jury] would not learn about the restraints." App. 320, ll. 1 – 3; 356. Despite trial counsel's objection, this error by the trial court in telling the jury facts outside of the record and drawing attention to the need to physically restrain petitioner during trial was not briefed on direct appeal and not sought as a basis for relief at PCR.⁴ The jury also asked an additional question regarding why petitioner was on

⁴ The solicitor incorrectly told the trial judge that petitioner had brought up his pre-trial incarceration during direct exam so that the "jury was aware that he had been in jail leading up to the trial." App. 320, ll. 15 – 19. To the contrary, the solicitor elicited the testimony that petitioner had been incarcerated prior to trial during cross. App. 261, l. 21 – 262, l. 20.

probation in this same note.⁵ In response, the trial court replied that “This is not in evidence therefore I can’t answer.” App. 318, 121 – 319, l. 19; 356.

Two additional questions related to why petitioner became a suspect and the content of Bannister’s original statement in 2015 were asked. App. 321, ll. 16 – 19. The trial court informed the jury “I can’t answer. Your decision must be made on the evidence presented” as to both questions. App. 357. At 7:15 pm, the jury informed the trial court that they had not reached a verdict and would like to break for the evening, indicating the results to the court and parties of the three votes they had taken: 7-5; 8-4; 10-2. App. 322; 1, 6 – 323, l. 16; 358. The following day, the jury again informed the trial court of the vote split (8-4 again) and that they were unable to reach a verdict at 10:16 a.m., having only started the day at 10:01 a.m. App. 330, l. 20 – 331, l. 2; 360. The trial court gave a version of an *Allen* charge to the jury at 11:18 a.m. App. 332, l. 5 - 335, l. 3. The jury was returned to deliberate at 11:21 a.m. and then requested to replay the testimony of several witnesses at 11:23 a.m. App. 335, ll. 4 – 16. There was a delay in prepping the replay from 11:23 a.m. until 11:48 a.m. App. 335, ll. 11 – 16. The testimony was estimated to take between 30 to 40 minutes. App. 335, ll. 17 – 21. While the record does not note the conclusion of the replayed testimony, based upon the estimated playback time, the jury returned to deliberate sometime between 12:18 p.m. and 12:38 p.m. The verdict was reach at 1:10 p.m. App. 337, ll. 16 – 19. Adding the three minutes after the *Allen* charge and the jury’s note to replay testimony to the estimated deliberation time after the replayed testimony, the jury deliberated for a total of between 55 minutes to one hour and five minutes before reaching a verdict after the *Allen* charge.

⁵ Petitioner had avoided mentioning his probation status on direct, but on cross the solicitor wanted the jury to hear how petitioner was contacted to speak to investigators by his probation office. App. 261, ll. 10 – 14.

The by the clock time between the *Allen* charge and the verdict was one hour and fifty-two minutes (11:18 a.m. until 1:10 p.m.).

The jury deliberated for over four hours on the first day of deliberations. The following morning, they began deliberations at 10:01 a.m. App. 330, ll. 20 – 23. Almost immediately, the jury sent a note regarding being deadlocked. The trial court gave the following *Allen* charge:

Madam forelady, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I received your latest note saying that y'all have been unable to reach a -- an unanimous decision.

Obviously trying to get 12 people to unanimously agree on something is not the easiest task no matter what you are trying to do, particularly in a difficult situation such that y'all have been assigned to do what the task is in this case.

So what happens is if you are unable to reach a unanimous verdict the ultimate and the end result is what we call a mistrial, which means simply this: That at another time here in this place we will bring in jurors like we brought you in. We will select 12 more jurors -- juries -- 12 more jurors to form a jury. The case will be presented again.

And obviously the testimony and the evidence is not going to change. It is what it is. And we will be asking another 12 jurors to make a decision in the case. So it doesn't go away. It is simply what is known as a mistrial.

You have been deliberating now about five-and-a-half hours. That is not an excessive long length of time. But I don't judge by how long you have been deliberating. Sometimes I judge on how hard you are working and how many questions you have asked me. And obviously I think y'all are taking your job very very seriously and you are doing the best you can.

So what I am going to ask you to do -- and I am not going to make you stay back there an inordinate amount of time, but I am going to ask you to give it one more good shot.

And I am going to ask those who are in the majority to listen to those who are in the minority and those who are in the minority to listen to those in the majority and see if you can't accomplish your civic duty of reaching a unanimous verdict.

If you can't, I understand; and you will certainly not be criticized by me or anybody here. *If you can, you won't be criticized either or praised; you will simply be doing your job.*

But I am going to ask you to go back and give it a last effort to try to reach a unanimous decision. And, ma'am, if you can't - and I am not going to make you stay back a long period of time. If you can't, you can't. If you can, then after having -- maybe you can after giving it another shot. But if you can't, I understand.

Now your other question was about -- y'all sound like me: To compensate for full memories can we have access to records what witnesses have already testified.

I don't have any records that I can give you. I can do this: If you want to hear a portion of a witness's testimony you can tell me what you want to hear and I can get the court reporter to identify it and we can go back and replay it. You can come go back out and listen to that testimony being replayed.

For instance, if you wanted to hear what the pathologist said I can go to that point of the pathologist's testimony and highlight it and come back out and we will play it.

So what -- if you want to hear some testimony send me a note as to what you want to hear and which witness. We will go ahead and set it up out here and we will bring you back out and replay it. That is the only thing I have to offer on that.

So I am going to let you go back. And if you want to hear some testimony let me know what it is. And I am going to ask you to give it one final shot. If you can, you can. If you can't, I understand. And I thank you no matter which way it turns out.

And it is 11:30. I don't know how long you want to go, but you might get -- start getting hungry in a little bit. So let me know if you want me to send you something to eat.

App. 332, l. 6 – 335, l. 3.

The trial court made no mention that a juror should not give up a firmly held belief just for the sake of agreeing on a verdict. *See Tucker v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 483, 487, 552 S.E.2d 712, 714 (2001) (noting the charge in question informed jurors that “At the same time no juror is expected

to give up an opinion based on reasoning satisfactory to himself or herself merely for the purpose of being in agreement with others.”).

App. 332, l. 6 - 335, l. 3 (emphasis added).

B. How the matter was addressed at PCR.

Petitioner testified extensively about his belief that the *Allen* charge was coercive in nature during the PCR hearing. App. 478, l. 6 – 481, l. 23. This included petitioner’s concern the trial judge failed to include any language regarding a juror’s firmly held beliefs: “*But with every juror understanding that each -- each vote is just as important as the next*, it has to be given the correct way.” App. 479, ll. 10 – 12 (emphasis added). Petitioner testified regarding his opinion of the impact of the *Allen* charge as a whole:

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