RECEIVED

Mar 09 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO BAMBERG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000412

KWAMAINE ROSS,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TRAVIS CRUISE MITCHELL
S.C. Bar No. 105682
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR Court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the *Allen* charge because the charge was not unconstitutionally coercive.

Petitioner alleges the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was effective when he failed to object to the coercive *Allen* charge that improperly failed to inform the jury not to set aside their firmly held beliefs. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to “assistance by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where, as in this case, a PCR Petitioner alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in *Strickland*: first, the Petitioner must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding

would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 670. The Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application by a preponderance of the evidence. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814; Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC.

At Petitioner’s trial, the Court gave the following charge to the jury after they indicated they were deadlocked:

The Court: Madam forelady, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I received your latest notes saying that y’all have been unable to reach a - - an unanimous decision.

Obviously trying to get 12 people to unanimously agree on something is not the easiest task no matter what you are trying to do, particularly in a difficult situation such that y’all have been assigned to do what the task is in this case.

So what happens is if you are unable to reach a unanimous verdict the ultimate and the end result is what we call a mistrial, which means simply this: That at another time here in this place we will bring in jurors like we brought you in. We will select 12 more jurors - - juries - - 12 more jurors to form a jury. The case will be presented again.

And obviously the testimony and the evidence is not going to change. It is what it is. And we will be asking another 12 jurors to make a decision in the case. So it doesn’t go away. It is simply what is known as a mistrial.

You have been deliberating now about five-and-a-half hours. That is not an excessive long length of time. But I don’t judge by how long you have been deliberating. Sometimes I judge on how hard you are working and how many questions you have asked me. And obviously I think y’all are taking your job very very seriously and you are doing the best you can.

So what I am going to ask you to do - - and I am not going to make you stay back there an inordinate amount of time, but I am going to ask you to give it one more good shot.

And I am going to ask those who are in the majority to listen to those who are in the minority and those who are in the minority to listen to those in the majority and see if you can't accomplish your civic duty of reaching a unanimous verdict.

If you can't, I understand; and you will certainly not be criticized by me or anybody here. If you can, you won't be criticized either or praised; you will simply be doing your job.

But I am going to ask you to go back and give it a last effort to try to reach a unanimous decision. And, ma'am, if you can't - - and I am not going to make you stay back a long period of time. If you can't, you can't. If you can, then after having - - maybe you can after giving it another shot. *But if you can't, I understand.*

(App. pp. 332–334) (emphasis added).

At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel testified that he did not see any reason to object to the *Allen* charge. (App. p. 437). “An *Allen* charge is an instruction advising deadlocked jurors to have deference to each other's views, that they should listen, with a disposition to be convinced, to each other's arguments.” *State v. Lee-Grigg*, 374 S.C. 388, 418 n.1, 649 S.E.2d 41, 57 n.1 (Ct. App. 2007) (internal quotation marks omitted), *aff'd* 387 S.C. 310, 692 S.E.2d 895 (2010). “Whether an *Allen* charge is unconstitutionally coercive must be judged in its context and under all the circumstances.” *Tucker v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 483, 490, 552 S.E.2d 712, 716 (2001) (quoting *Lowenfield v. Phelps*, 484 U.S. 231 (1988)).

“In South Carolina state courts, an *Allen* charge cannot be directed to the minority voters on the jury panel.” *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002). “Instead, an *Allen* charge should be even-handed, directing both the majority and the minority to consider the other's views.” *Id.* “A trial judge has a duty to urge, but not coerce, a jury to reach a verdict.” *Id.* In *Tucker*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina adopted the standard established by the United States Supreme Court in *Lowenfield* to determine whether an *Allen* charge is unconstitutionally coercive. Those factors are:

- (1) Whether the charge spoke specifically to the minority juror(s);

- (2) The language of the charge, including statements such as “You have [] to reach a decision in this case”;
- (3) Whether the trial judge inquired into the jury’s numerical division, a question generally considered coercive; and
- (4) Weighing the length of time between the issuance of the Allen charge and the jury’s return of a verdict (with verdicts returned “shortly after” the supplemental charge suggesting a possibility of coercion) against trial counsel’s failures to object either to the charge itself or an inquiry whether the jurors believed further deliberation would result in a verdict.

Tucker, 346 S.C. at 492, 552 S.E.2d at 716 (citing *Lowenfield*, 484 U.S. at 237).

Analyzed under the *Lowenfield* factors, the trial judge’s *Allen* charge was not unconstitutionally coercive. The trial judge spoke to both the majority and minority jurors by asking “those who are in the majority listen to those who are in the minority and those who are in the minority to listen those in the majority.” Clearly, the judge did not speak specifically to the minority jurors when requesting both the majority and minority jurors to consider each other’s views. Petitioner asserts that the trial court was aware the not guilty jurors were in the minority. This is unsupported by the record. Although the foreperson sent notes reflecting the numerical division, the notes did not disclose whether guilty or not guilty was the majority position. (App. p. 358; 360). Importantly, the trial court never inquired into which position constituted the majority. Therefore, the trial court was not aware of which position was in the minority.

Nor does the trial court’s reminder of the jurors’ civic duty to attempt to reach a unanimous verdict render the charge coercive. A trial judge has not only the authority but the obligation to urge the jurors to reach a verdict. *See Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002) (“A trial judge has a duty to urge, but not coerce, a jury to reach a verdict”). Additionally, the trial court’s reference to the jurors’ civic duty immediately followed, and was part of the same sentence as, the request that both sides consider one another’s views. In this context, the trial

court's reminder of the jurors' civic duty cannot reasonably be characterized as coercive or directed toward the minority position.

Petitioner argues the trial court's comment reminding the jurors to "accomplish their civic duty of reaching a unanimous verdict" is akin to the improper comments made in *State v. Rampey*, 438 S.C. 519, 885 S.E.2d 366 (2022).

The court in *Rampey* gave the following *Allen* charge:

All right. Ladies and gentlemen, I've received your note and I sympathize with you. I recognize this is a difficult case and it's difficult to come to a resolution. It's hard enough for two people to agree on anything, so it's particularly difficult, oftentimes, for 12 people who have just met each other and have been thrust into a jury room to deliberate to agree on a verdict in the case. So I sympathize with you in that regard. I sympathize with you because I recognize this is a very difficult decision for each of you to make, both collectively and personally.

But I do want to impress upon you that there have been many resources that's been brought to bear this week to bring this case to trial. The State of South Carolina, the County of Pickens, the parties to this case have expended substantial and significant resources to bring this case to trial. If you were to fail to come to a verdict in this case, then this case would simply have to be tried again. Twelve other people in the county of Pickens would come to trial and would hear the same witnesses, the same evidence, same arguments and would be tasked with deliberating on the case. Now, there are no 12 other people in the county of Pickens who are more capable, who are more able, who are more competent to reach a decision in this case than you are.

Now, I recognize that it's a very difficult decision to make, *but these parties deserve finality and they deserve a decision.* So I would ask you to return to your jury room and continue deliberations. Those of you who may be in the minority, I would ask you to consider the position of the majority. Those of you who are in the majority, I would ask you as well to consider the position of the minority again and see if you can come to some resolution in this case. I know that's not what you wanted to hear when I brought you back out there, but again, *this is important and a lot of resources have been expended to get to this point in time, And these parties deserve a verdict.* So I ask you to return to your jury room and attempt to come to a verdict. Thank you very much.

Id. at 522–24, 885 S.E.2d at 367–68 (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court in *Rampey* found the above charge was unconstitutionally coercive based on the court's repeated comments that the parties deserve a verdict and its emphasis on the substantial resources spent in bringing the case to trial. *Id.* at 527, 885 S.E.2d at 370. No similar remarks were made in this case. In fact, the trial court informed the jury that they would not be criticized if they cannot come to a verdict and ended the *Allen* charge by stating "but if you can't [come to a decision], I understand." This is entirely opposite to the trial court's remarks in *Rampey* where the trial judge reiterated the "point towards the end of its charge, stating 'these parties deserve finality and they deserve a decision.'" *State v. Rampey*, 438 S.C. 519, 526, 885 S.E.2d 366, 369 (2022).

Furthermore, Petitioner misstates the PCR court's findings. The PCR court did not find, as Petitioner suggests, that the trial judge was unaware of the jury's split; rather, the PCR court found that "there was no inquiry into the jury's numerical division." (App. p. 510). The record plainly supports that finding. At no point did the trial court ask how the jury was divided numerically. Although the jury's notes referenced a numerical division, they did not indicate whether guilty or not guilty constituted the majority. (App. p. 358; 360). Nor, critically, did the trial court ever inquire into how the jury was split. The numerical division was merely volunteered by the jurors in their notes to the court. The trial court did not request that information and did not inquire into the jury's split. Therefore, the record is clear that the trial court played no role in eliciting the numerical split of the jurors. Thus, the PCR court's finding that the trial court did not inquire into the jury's numerical division is wholly supported by the record, despite Petitioner's assertion to the contrary.

Additionally, the timing of the verdict after the *Allen* charge does not indicate coercion. The jury began deliberations on June 20, 2018, at 3:09 p.m. (App. p. 318). The jury finished deliberations for the day at 7:12 p.m. (App. p. 322). The jury resumed deliberations on June 21,

2018, at 10:01 a.m. At 10:16 a.m., only 15 minutes after the jury resumed deliberations, they sent a note to the trial court indicating they were still deadlocked. (App. p. 331). The trial court gave the *Allen* charge at 11:18 a.m. and the jury resumed deliberating at 11:21 a.m. (App. pp. 332–335). Following the *Allen* charge, the jury requested to play back portions of the trial testimony. (App. pp. 336–337; 361). The jury came back with a verdict at 1:10 p.m., one hour, 49 minutes following the *Allen* charge. (App. p. 337). The PCR court did not err by finding this length of time did not indicate coercion. The pre-*Allen* charge deliberations totaled 4 hours, 3 minutes. The jury deliberated an additional 1 hour, 49 minutes following the issuance of the *Allen* charge. This is an entirely reasonable period of time given the total time of the deliberations. During this time, the jury requested to play back certain testimony from trial, which indicates they were in thoughtful deliberations following the *Allen* charge and were not surrendering their firmly held beliefs. Thus, the time between the issuance of the *Allen* charge and the verdict does not indicate coercion.

Because the *Allen* charge given by the trial court was proper, Petitioner has suffered no prejudice from Counsel's alleged failure to object.¹

¹ Petitioner, in asserting prejudice, raises two issues that he concedes are unpreserved and were never raised, discussed, or ruled upon in the proceedings below. Accordingly, this Court should reject Petitioner's attempt to litigate these issues for the first time on appeal. *See Mangal v. State*, 421 S.C. 85, 805 S.E.2d 568 (2017) (declining to excuse a procedural default where the issue was not presented to the PCR court at the hearing); *Plyler v. State*, 309 S.C. 408, 413, 424 S.E.2d 477, 480 (1992) (holding an issue that was neither raised at the PCR hearing nor ruled on by the PCR court is procedurally barred on appeal), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019); *Hyman v. State*, 278 S.C. 501, 502, 299 S.E.2d 330, 331 (1983) (holding an issue that was not raised in the PCR application or at the PCR hearing is not properly before the appellate court).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, as the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue raised.